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Message from the Chair to the Minister Responsible

June 21, 2011
The Honorable Pat Bell
Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation
Province of British Columbia
Dear Minister:
As illustrated by various data in this Annual Report, the past year may have marked a profound turning point in the history
of the BC forest industry, and in particular its heavy reliance on servicing the United States residential construction market.
Although the value of the industry’s output remained significantly lower than before the world-wide economic downturn of
2008, the industry seems to be on the road to recovery. In 2010 the value of lumber sales increased by 19 percent compared
to 2009, while pulp and paper sales increased by 13 percent.
The increase in lumber sales was especially remarkable because it happened in spite of demand in the U.S. remaining
historically poor. In 2010 the BC lumber industry embraced China as a valued long-term market. The volume of B.C. lumber
sales to China was up 75 percent in 2010, continuing the trend of the previous few years. With Chinese customers specifying
a growing proportion of structural grade lumber, the value of BC lumber sales to China in 2010 surpassed the value of sales to
Japan for the first time. The first two months of 2011 continued this dramatic trend.
In 2010 the marketing philosophy of several leading firms changed significantly as they began to dedicate the entire
production of a specific sawmill to a specific customer in China, sometimes on a cost-plus basis. This is profoundly different
from the standard business model whereby a sawmill’s various species and grades are sold separately to numerous
customers at changing short-term market prices.
The increasing flow of lumber to China is credited not only with expanding our industry’s customer base, but also with
keeping the price for lumber much higher than it otherwise would be, world-wide. Company share prices rose significantly in
2010/11, and BC firms announced the first major capital investments in several years.
Lumber sales to Japan rose by 24 percent in 2010 compared to 2009. Significant percentage increases were also evident in
exports to the United Kingdom, Taiwan, Saudi Arabia, and India. The latter is especially interesting because India has recently
eliminated its phytosanitary constraints to the import of Canadian SPF lumber, and a number of people believe this has
opened the door to doing much more business.
This Annual Report outlines some of the ways in which FII has been assisting the forest industry to retain existing markets
and diversify beyond. The report documents how B.C.’s share of the market in key countries has changed over the past
decade, and speaks to FII’s performance relative to the goals and objectives contained in its 2010/11 Service Plan.
Over the past year, FII expenses totaled $25.8 million, of which $8.9 million was committed to partially or fully pay for
product and market development activities proposed and ultimately delivered by 10 trade associations, FPInnovations, and
the University of B.C.
China remains FII’s focus. Over the past year, FII’s expenditures for the entire market development program in China totaled
$12.4 million, which included $4.7 million for Wenchuan Earthquake demonstration projects and $2.8 million for commercially
oriented demonstration projects. This reflected our joint conclusion that real-world demonstration projects are the most
effective means of educating Chinese officials, architects, developers and builders about the merits of building with wood
instead of with concrete, steel and brick.
Highlights of the China program in 2010/11 included completion of two of the three major Wenchuan Earthquake
reconstruction projects and construction and management of the Vancouver Pavilion at Expo 2010 in Shanghai. Over
600,000 people visited the pavilion to see how BC wood products can be used to build residential and non-residential
structures that are energy efficient, cost effective, and more friendly to the environment than buildings of concrete and steel.
Exit surveys showed that 19 percent of the visitors had a professional, technical interest in the planning or construction field,
and the program for 2011/12 will include active follow up with those people.
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With all of the advances of the past year, FII is more optimistic than ever that China will adopt wood frame technology to
meet a significant portion of its housing needs. In a country that normally builds about 11 million new housing units every
year, the potential is enormous.
Although the demand for wood products in the U.S. housing industry remains historically low, there is cause for optimism
in that country’s non-residential sector. With funding from FII, NRCan, and the forest industry on both sides of the border,
in 2010/11 the Wood Products Council was in full swing with programs to promote wood frame technology in commercial
and institutional buildings in three regions of the U.S. As energy costs rise once again, and as the world struggles to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions, we are witnessing a growing interest in using wood products instead of concrete and steel for
structures such as stores, office buildings, schools, health centres, and low-rise office buildings.
As 2010/11 drew to a close, Japan was struck by a devastating earthquake and tsunami that killed an estimated 28,000 people
and destroyed 46,000 buildings. Another 144,000 buildings were damaged. Much of the region’s civil infrastructure was
destroyed and it will take some years to rebuild. The Province of BC was quick to step up with a donation towards immediate
humanitarian aid, and FII began to work with the BC forest products industry to determine how Canada Wood Group might
secure funds for its delivery of long-term reconstruction projects in a fashion similar to what was accomplished in China over
the past three years.
While most of FII’s programming remained focused on expanding foreign demand for BC products, some $880,000 was
directed to the Business Innovation Program by which BC Wood Specialties Group, FPInnovations and the Centre for
Advanced Wood Processing at UBC are directly supporting value-added firms to improve their business planning, product
design, manufacturing and marketing. A further $471,000 was directed at research to support the Province’s emerging Wood
First priorities, such as development of cross laminated timber technology and capacity, and the facilitation of inbound
investment.
On the Market Acceptance front, FII continues to collaborate with other organizations to make architects, specifiers,
developers and builders aware of the environmental merits of our forest products, especially as documented by the emerging
science of Life Cycle Assessment for building systems. In 2010 Harris Decima undertook in depth interviews of 120 large
customers in North America, Europe and Asia. Of those with an opinion, 10 percent felt that BC’s environmental (i.e., forest
management) practices are “average”, while 88 percent felt that BC’s practices are better than average. This is in stark
contrast to perhaps five years ago, when B.C. forest practices were a major issue in the marketplace.
As documented in the body of this report, FII substantially achieved all of the performance targets set in its most recent
Service Plan.

Risk and capacity

The most important factors influencing marketing success are beyond FII’s control. Demand for BC forest products is driven
by the level of economic activity in other countries, especially residential construction and renovation in the United States.
Furthermore, the international competitiveness of B.C. firms is directly tied to the strength of foreign currencies. FII’s
objective is to positively influence demand for B.C. products within whatever circumstances may prevail at any given time.
For program delivery, FII relies on the willingness and ability of trade associations to propose, deliver, and share the cost of
a host of product and market development activities. As 2010/11 drew to a close and a Canadian federal election was called,
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the federal government’s programs to support the Canadian industry’s market development work came to an end. Although
a new federal government is likely to re-introduce similar programs, the risk is high that funding for private-sector market
development activities will not be retroactive to April 1st. This is a major concern for the BC forest industry and for FII, and no
funding solution is evident at this time.
The 2010/11 Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. Annual Report was prepared under the Board’s direction in accordance with
the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and the B.C. Reporting Principles. The Board is accountable for the contents
of the report, including what has been included in the report and how it has been reported.
The information reflects the actual performance of FII for the 12 months ended March 31, 2011 in relation to the March 2010
Service Plan. The measures presented are consistent with FII’s mandate, goals and objectives for 2010/11, and focus on
aspects critical to the organization’s performance.
The Board is responsible for ensuring internal controls are in place to ensure performance information is measured accurately
and in a timely fashion.
All significant decisions, events and identified risks, as of March 31, 2011 have been considered in preparing this report. The
report contains estimates and interpretive information that represent the best judgment of management. Any changes in
mandate direction, goals, objectives, strategies, measures or targets made since the March 2010 service plan was released
and any significant limitations in the reliability of the data are identified in the report.

Dana Hayden
Board Chair

Forestry Innovation Investment

Service Plan Annual Report 2010/11

Organizational Overview

7

Organizational Overview
Forests cover almost two-thirds of British Columbia’s land base, and the forest industry remains the province’s largest
manufacturing sector. With more than 40% of B.C.’s regional economies based on forestry, the health of the forest economy
is vital to the well being of B.C. Since more than 80 percent of forestry sales are to customers outside B.C., growing and
maintaining foreign markets is of particular importance to communities across the province.
Reflecting these factors, Forestry Innovation Investment is mandated to work with the forest industry in building new
markets around the world.
When FII was created, less than one-sixth of B.C.’s forest product exports were sent to markets outside of North America.
Today, more than one-third of exports are shipped overseas. Sales to China have increased more than 10 times since a joint
market development program was set up by FII and the industry, with federal government support in 2003.

Enabling legislation and mandate

FII was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act on March 31, 2003. As documented later in this report, the
Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations from the then Minister of Forests and Range in October 2010 confirmed FII’s
mandate to:
•

work with the forest industry to promote B.C.’s forest products and forest management practices
around the world with an emphasis on developing and diversifying geographic markets and
specific market segments, such as in Asia and the non-residential sector in North America;

•

position British Columbia as a global supplier of world-class, environmentally friendly forest
products;

•

help break down non-tariff trade and market barriers to sales of B.C. forest products in foreign
markets; and

•

help ensure that the forest sector, through product development and strong international sales,
continues to be a leading contributor to the B.C. economy.

Vision, Mission and Values

FII’s vision, mission and values reflect its mandate as the B.C. government’s forest products marketing agency:
Vision:

Forestry Innovation Investment is an effective catalyst in positioning British Columbia as the leading global
supplier of environmentally superior products from sustainably managed forests.

Mission: FII’s mission is to be an innovative and collaborative forest market development agency that anticipates
and meets the needs of government, the B.C. forest sector, and international markets through well balanced
investments that maximize the value to British Columbia.
Values: Focus on partnerships – FII works in partnership with key stakeholders to develop initiatives and ensure programs
are effectively delivered in a coordinated manner.
Innovation – FII encourages innovative programs and responses to changing circumstances. FII staff learn from
the past and continuously improve the effectiveness and efficiency of FII programs by consulting widely and
optimizing the use of resources.
Integrity and Credibility – Projects and services are delivered by capable, motivated individuals who focus on
ensuring FII programs are credible and useful.
Investments based on knowledge and excellence – FII strives for transparent decision-making and investment
processes based on research.
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Core business areas

FII is organized into business units that reflect the organizational focus on international marketing and communication
activities:
FORESTRY INNOVATION INVESTMENT
MARKET INITIATIVES AND OUTREACH

CORPORATE SERVICES

CHINA SUBSIDIARY

Work with industry trade
associations to develop and/
or open foreign markets for B.C.
forest products

Ensure financial reporting to
Government standards

Partner with industry in developing
China market for B.C. forest products

Support capacity development
in the B.C. value-added wood
products sector

Oversee budget planning and
controls

Act as liaison between B.C.
government and industry and
Chinese officials

Promote wood as a green building
material

Provide human resources,
information technology,
and office services to meet
organizational needs

Design and deliver demonstration
projects

Ensure markets are aware of B.C.’s
sustainable forest practices and
high environmental standards

Undertake market research and
manage forestry trade missions

Research international markets
and identify opportunities for sales
growth of B.C. forest products

A significant change occurred in 2010/11 when a Board of Directors composed primarily of senior forest industry executives
was appointed in May, 2010 to govern the subsidiary company in China. The FII China board reports to the FII corporate Board
of Directors.
A second significant change occurred on March 14, 2011 when FII became accountable to the Minister of Jobs, Tourism and
Innovation as part of a reorganization of ministry responsibilities.

Service delivery and expenditures

FII is primarily a funding agency for market initiatives. It is also a direct provider of market development services on behalf of
the Government of B.C. with most of these efforts focused on China.
As a funding agency, FII provides funds to support the market development activities of trade associations. Each year, FII
publishes an annual investment strategy to articulate the company’s funding objectives, based on priorities set by the
provincial government and input received from the forest industry. More details are available at http://www.bcfii.ca/
funding/ .
About half of FII’s budget is directed towards co-funded programs delivered by industry trade associations. These activities
are typically funded by FII, Natural Resources Canada through its Canada Wood Export Program and its North American Wood
First Initiative, and the funding recipients themselves.

Forestry Innovation Investment
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In 2010/11, FII’s $9.3 million in funding to other organizations leveraged $15.4 million of contributions from industry and the
federal government, so that the total value of product and market development activities was approximately $25 million.
In addition to its role as a co-funder of market development and research activities, FII responds to provincial government
priorities by directly delivering a number of market development initiatives. These are designed to provide broad-based
benefits to the forest sector but fall outside the mandates of industry associations and other government agencies. They
include:
•

market outreach communication to explain B.C.’s forest practices and environmental record to
international markets;

•

market research to unearth potential opportunities and create new market demand in high-risk,
emerging markets and segments;

•

creating marketing resources for general use by industry, such as publications on wood as a green
building material, and the naturallywood.com web site; and

•

market development programming in China, where FII represents the interests of the forest sector
and the Government of B.C. in interactions with Chinese authorities.

Benefits to British Columbia

FII benefits the people and economy of British Columbia by:
•

working to maintain existing markets for B.C. forest products, and as a result, supporting forestry
jobs in resource communities, in collaboration with the forest sector;

•

opening up new markets for B.C. forest products and creating the potential for new jobs to service
these markets;

•

building awareness of B.C. internationally, particularly in China and throughout the Asia-Pacific
region, which helps strengthen and grow trade ties;

•

supporting the growth of a sustainable and green economy by promoting the environmental
benefits of wood in structural and non-structural applications and greater use of renewable wood
products from B.C.; and

•

funding leading-edge technical research and product innovation to ensure the continued
competitiveness of the forest sector.

Minister Bell and Key Stakeholders attend an FII Annual Stakeholder Meeting at the Richmond Olympic Oval
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Principal partners, clients and stakeholders

FII works with the following provincial, federal, industry and interested parties.
ORGANIZATION

RELATIONSHIP

Government
Government of British Columbia

Sole shareholder, provides FII’s core funding

Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation

Minister responsible for FII and co-ordinator of international
economic development, trade and investment activities for the
Government of B.C.

Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural
Resources Operations

Ministry responsible for management of forest lands and resources

Department of Foreign Affairs and
International Trade, Government of Canada

Federal agency supporting in-market trade and investment
promotion and, in China, representing the Government of Canada
in the Canada-B.C. Wenchuan Earthquake Reconstruction Project

Department of Natural Resources, Government
of Canada

Federal funding agency for international marketing programs
through the Canada Wood Export Program (CWEP) and the North
American Wood First Initiative

Western Economic Diversification Canada

Provides funding for the Business Innovation Program

B.C. forest industry associations
• APA – The Engineered Wood Association
• BC First Nations Forestry Council
• BC Wood Specialties Group
• Canada Wood Group
• Canadian Wood Council – WoodWORKS! BC
• Coast Forest Products Association
• Council of Forest Industries
• Western Red Cedar Export Association
• Western Red Cedar Lumber Association
• Wood Products Council

Funding recipients that initiate and deliver domestic and
international marketing programs and that may also receive
funding from Natural Resources Canada and/or other partner
organizations

Post-secondary and research institutions
• University of British Columbia
• British Columbia Institute of Technology
• FPInnovations

Partners and/or funding recipients that initiate and deliver
product development and technical research, and overseas training
programs to build local capacity in wood frame construction

Other
• Forest Products Association of Canada
• Department of Natural Resources, 		
Government of Canada
• Department of Foreign Affairs and 		
International Trade, Government of Canada
• FPInnovations (Forintek Division)
• B.C. Forestry Climate Change Working Group
• Sustainable Building Coalition

Forestry Innovation Investment

Partners in developing and delivering programs promoting B.C.’s
sustainable forest practices and the environmental benefits of
wood products and the forest sector
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In Asia, Canada Wood Group (a partnership of trade
associations) leads market development activities
in Japan and South Korea, with funding provided by
FII, Natural Resources Canada and the associations.
Activities involve building relationships with government
officials, developers and the building sector, and research
institutions on topics related to market access (e.g.,
acceptability of B.C. species and grades in local building
and fire codes), market development (marketing and
promotion) and related issues.
In China, FII and Canada Wood Group collaborate on
market research, marketing, government relations,
demonstration buildings, quality assurance and training.
Key relationships are maintained with government
agencies, the architectural faculties of several universities,
developers and builders.
In the United States, trade associations, including the
Wood Products Council, Western Red Cedar Lumber
Association, and B.C. Wood Specialties Group lead market
development activities funded by FII and industry.
Activities focus on niche markets in the residential
construction and related sectors as well as the emerging
market for wood in the non-residential sector.
In other markets, trade associations lead market
development activities funded by FII, Natural Resources
Canada and industry. Activities focus on market
development and market access.

Corporate locations

The FII corporate office is located at:
#1200 - 1130 West Pender Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia, V6E 4A4
The company’s China subsidiary,
FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co, Ltd.
office is located at:
425 Hong Feng Road,
Jinqiao, Pudong New Area, Shanghai,
P.R. China 201206
FII Consulting (Shanghai) also operates
a satellite office in Beijing located at:
Room 1507, Kuntai International Mansion,
No.12 B Chaowai Street, Beijing, P.R.
China 100020.
More information on FII is available at www.bcfii.ca.
General information on B.C.’s high-quality forest products
and sustainably managed forests is available at
www.naturallywood.com.
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Board of Directors

The three -member Board of Directors is accountable to
the Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation:
•

Dana Hayden,
Deputy Minister
Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation
(Chair);

•

Lori Wanamaker
Deputy Minister
Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General

•

Position currently vacant 1

The Board appoints the Chief Executive Officer and
oversees FII’s priorities, strategies, and policies.
The Board’s Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing,
recommending, and in some instances, approving
financial statements and other information. The Audit
Committee has three positions. Two are filled by Lori
Wanamaker and John Desjardins, Partner, KPMG. One
position is currently vacant.
Reflecting the growing importance of China as an export
market, and the large share of the FII budget directed
towards activities in China, in 2010/11 the corporate
Board established a subsidiary Board of Directors for FII
China operations. 2 The FII China Board is responsible
for overseeing the budget, business direction, and
management of FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. The
Board members are:
•

Don Kayne, President and Chief Executive Officer
Wood Products Marketing and Sales
Canfor (Chair)

•

Don Demens, Senior Vice President
Western Forest Products Inc.

•

Steven Hofer, Vice President
Sales and Marketing
Interfor

•

John Langley, Manager
Export Sales
Tolko Industries Ltd.

•

Chris McIver, Vice President
Lumber Sales and Corporate Development
West Fraser Timber Company Ltd.

•

Glen Wilson, President
Interex Forest Products Ltd.

•

Ken Baker, CEO
Forestry Innovation Investment
1. Government restructuring in March 2011 resulted in a vacancy on the FII Board.
2. At the time of writing, FII was awaiting Chinese regulatory approval of the new Board.
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Governance principles and practices

The Board of Directors operates according to six guiding
principles related to:
•

stewardship, leadership and effective
functioning of the Board;

•

clarity of roles and responsibilities;

•

openness, trust and transparency;

•

service and corporate citizenship;

•

accountability and performance; and

•

value, innovation and continuous
improvement.

Details about how the guiding principles are applied are
posted on FII’s website at:
www.bcfii.ca/aboutus/corporate/corporate-governance/ .
FII is substantially in accordance with governance
best practices published by the Board Resourcing and
Development Office. A detailed disclosure of concurrence
is posted on FII’s website at http://www.bcfii.ca/aboutus/
corporate/corporate-governance/ .

Industry Advisory Committees

Four committees of senior forest industry staff provide
continuing advice to FII:
•

the Strategy Committee offers
strategic direction on all of FII’s
programming, investments and
market development goals;

•

the Market Acceptance Advisory
Group offers strategic direction on
FII’s Market Outreach programming;

•

the Business Innovation Program (BIP)
Advisory Committee offers strategic
direction to FII on BIP priorities and
program services; and

•

The Proposal Evaluation Panel
evaluates funding proposals received
through FII’s annual call for proposals
process.

Forestry Innovation Investment

FII executive management
•

Ken Baker, CEO

•

Doug Greig, Vice President,
Finance and Administration

•

Mike Hogan, Vice President,
China Operations

•

Michael Loseth, Vice President,
Operations

Subsidiary company
Company: FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
(wholly owned by Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.)
Primary business: Government-to-government
relations, demonstration projects and market research.
Objective: Create new commercial opportunities for
the B.C forest industry, especially by introducing wood
frame building technology to China.
Governance: In transition from a sole Executive
Director (Ken Baker) to a Board of Directors reporting
to the FII Board of Directors. The transition will be
complete when Chinese authorities approve the
change.
Financial information: See the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Performance Management Framework

FII has made significant efforts to benchmark its
performance to other organizations, including
commissioning an assessment in 2009/10 of whether
FII’s performance could be benchmarked against that
of other organizations. The consultant examined nine
organizations in the forest sector and in other sectors
and concluded that most were sufficiently different
from FII as to offer no useful comparability. However, it
was noted that two organizations (Natural Resources
Canada and Tourism BC) did utilize some performance
measures that could be applicable to the FII operation.
FII has subsequently employed a number of internal
performance measures that are similar to those utilized
by other organizations, and many others are incorporated
in the corporation’s overall Performance Management
Framework.

The strategic approach from previous years continued in
2010/11, but the focus of activities narrowed somewhat,
with greater emphasis placed on industry-delivered
programs and the FII China operations. These changes
were in response to an updating of the Shareholder’s
Letter of Expectations in January 2010 and a further
revision in October 2010. As a result, while goals and
strategies were largely unchanged from 2009/10,
performance measures were adjusted to reflect these
changing realities.
The performance measures outlined in the Report on
Performance are specific to the work of FII. This section
does not include performance measures that apply to
organizations to which FII directs over half of its budget.
Those external performance measures are captured in
FII’s Performance Management Framework http://www.
bcfii.ca/aboutus/corporate/corporate-governance/. The
framework includes measures used for managing funding
to other organizations (in concert with Natural Resources
Canada’s funding administration) and for application to
all of FII’s internally directed projects.

GOAL 1
EXPANDED MARKET OPPORTUNITIES THAT
ARE BENEFICIAL TO THE
B.C. FOREST SECTOR
Strategies
• Develop opportunities in new and
existing markets

• Foster acceptance of Canadian wood
frame building systems in priority
markets

• Encourage customers to accept B.C.
forest products as preferred materials

• Pursue technical research and product
innovation to position B.C. products
globally
• Support B.C.’s Wood First Initiative –
making British Columbia a leader in
wood use

Performance Measures
• Softwood lumber exports to priority
Asia Pacific markets
• Incremental sales generated in
targeted U.S. non-residential
construction markets
• Incremental sales generated
in the B.C. non-residential
construction market

Service Plan Annual Report 2010/11

In October 2010, FII’s Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations
was updated with some refinement of goals, strategies,
and performance measures. These and other subsequent
refinements to goals and strategies are reflected in the
Service Plan for 2011/12.

GOAL 2
INTERNATIONAL RECOGNITION OF
B.C. AS THE LEADING SUPPLIER
OF ENVIRONMENTALLY SUPERIOR
FOREST PRODUCTS.
Strategies

GOAL 3
FII IS A HIGHLY EFFECTIVE, INNOVATIVE
AND RESPONSIVE ORGANIZATION
Strategies

• Gather market intelligence through
research and surveys

• Ensure FII is efficient, transparent
and results focused

• Produce technically accurate and
credible information materials for
a broad array of international and
domestic audiences

• Embrace socially responsible
practices, including minimizing the
organization’s carbon footprint

• Monitor and analyze the internet
and mainstream and trade media
to identify risks and opportunities
relating to environmental reputation

• Financially support the development
of science-based life cycle assessment
tools to document the environmental
superiority of forest products
• Provide advocacy support where B.C.
forest products are unfairly targeted

• Attract and retain expert staff who
are dedicated to the organization’s
success and committed to continuous
improvement

Performance Measures
• Timeliness of annual funding cycle for
trade associations, research institutes,
and universities

• Provide international customers with
timely, credible information regarding
B.C. forest practices and products,
including pulp and paper

Performance Measures
• Percent of customers who feel that
choosing products from B.C. (Canada)
is a good choice for the environment

Forestry Innovation Investment

14

Report on Performance

Report on Perfomance

Economic and industry factors: risks and opportunities
As a market development agency, FII’s strategic issues relate to the domestic and international market demand for B.C. forest
products as well as to the domestic factors that influence product supply and quality. The major factors in 2010/11, and FII’s
related actions, are listed in the following table.

RISK OR OPPORTUNITY

FII RESPONSE

China and Asian market demand
•

•

China and other countries in Asia offer
significant opportunities to diversify
sales away from the United States due
to their faster rebound from the global
downturn, greater prospects for economic
growth, and lower baseline levels of wood
consumption.
Total B.C. lumber exports to China in 2010
were up 75 percent by volume from 2009
levels.

•

FII plays a major role in the Province’s economic development
programs in Asia, most notably through its wholly owned
subsidiary in China, and through funding the private sector’s
market development work in China, South Korea and Japan.

•

In support of the goal to expand and diversify markets, FII
invested over 70% of country-specific market development funds
in Asian markets in 2010/11, with almost 60% going to Chinabased activities.

•

In 2010/11 FII continued to accelerate its market development
program in China. Through a series of demonstration projects, FII,
together with its partners in the Canada Wood Group, is proving
wood frame structures to be cost-effective alternative to concrete
and steel construction.

•

In 2010/11, FII budgeted approximately $500,000 for product
development and technical research, with projects determined
collaboratively by FII and the Ministry of Forests, Mines and Lands.

Product development
•

The global market for wood products,
both structural and finished goods, is
increasingly competitive. Ensuring that
B.C. products remain at the leading edge
of innovation is critical for the future of
the forest sector.

Forestry Innovation Investment
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FII RESPONSE

United States market demand
•

Historically the B.C. lumber industry’s
customer base has been overwhelmingly
reliant on the United States residential
construction sector, creating a “boom and
bust” cycle, as occurred in 2007 when U.S.
demand collapsed. Demand in the U.S.
market has yet to recover.

•

A key objective of FII is to diversify the demand for B.C. wood
products. To support this, FII’s efforts have focused on building
new demand in targeted offshore markets, particularly China,
South Korea and Japan. Results to-date have been positive. Since
2005, offshore exports as a percentage of total B.C. exports have
grown from less than one sixth of total volume to more than onethird of sales in 2010.

•

B.C. lumber exports in 2010 were up about
3.5% by volume over 2009.

•

In addition to boosting demand offshore, FII worked to diversify
demand within the U.S. through targeted investments to
encourage the greater adoption of wood products in the huge
non-residential construction market.
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Coastal forest sector
•

On the Coast, hemlock and amabalis fir
(hemfir) are the dominant species, with
unique inherent features but subject
to typically high operating costs in
harvesting and manufacturing. Market
demand for hemfir has not been strong
enough alone to make the Coast industry
broadly profitable.

•

Cedar from the Coast remains an
important species, with stronger markets
and returns for the industry.
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•

In 2010/11, FII continued its funding support for priority segments
of the Coastal industry. Specifically, FII co-funded market
development projects focused on improving market share for
hemfir in China and Japan.

Forestry Innovation Investment
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Interior forest sector/Mountain Pine Beetle
•

The Mountain Pine Beetle epidemic
continues to impact fibre supply and
timber quality.

•

As the epidemic reduces the availability
of pine, the mix of the Interior harvest is
shifting more towards spruce and fir with
potential consequences for solid wood,
engineered wood, and pulp and paper
products.

•

Significant research and market access work has been completed
on MPB fibre, its characteristics and applications over the past 5
years. The industry continues to use MPB fibre for dimension lumber and existing product lines, with market access activities aimed
at ensuring continued access to priority markets.

•

In 2010/11 FII’s Investment Strategy highlighted the need to analyze
the impact of the shifting species mix on the Interior industry and
to support the Interior industry in its efforts to develop and expand
markets for SPF products.

•

Through the Business Innovation Program, FII provided dedicated
funding to strengthen the competitiveness of the secondary
manufacturing sector. To ensure it meets industry needs, the
program is guided by an industry advisory committee.

•

In 2010/11, $691,461 was directed to marketing activities by BC
Wood Specialties Group, which represents the majority of valueadded firms in B.C.

•

In 2010/11, FII again provided funding to the Wood Products
Council to promote adoption of wood-based technologies in the
non-residential sector in three regions of the United States.

•

In 2009/10, FII provided seed funding to the Wood Enterprise
Coalition (WEC), a partnership of FPInnovations, BC Wood
Specialties Group and the Canadian Wood Council’s WoodWORKS!
BC program. These organizations represent a key part of the
implementation of Government’s Wood First objectives and FII
continued to support the WEC and its partners in delivering on its
objectives throughout 2010/11.

•

In 2010/11 FII provided $400,000 toward WoodWORKS! BC’s
$1 million program design to expand wood use in non-residential
construction in B.C.

Secondary manufacturing
•

The secondary manufacturing sector
remained in the midst of a significant
downturn in market demand during
2010/11 and faced the added threat
of competition from low-cost Asian
manufacturers.

Wood First and the non-residential sector
•

•

Advanced wood design and technologies,
coupled with rising costs of producing
cement and steel, are beginning to make
wood a practical and more cost-effective
solution for commercial, recreational and
institutional buildings.
In March 2009 the Ministry of Forests and
Range launched its Wood First initiative
to establish B.C. as a world leader in
innovative and higher-value uses for
wood.

Green building, forests and climate change
•

While people remain generally sensitive
to how forests are managed, this has been
superseded by the general concern about
climate change and global warming.

•

A priority for FII in 2010/11 was to work with other government
agencies and the forest industry to strengthen the image of wood
as the most environmentally-friendly building material, and the role
of forest management in mitigating global warming.

•

Making new buildings more
environmentally friendly and energy
efficient is one of the most significant
trends in the construction industry, not only
in North America but also in Europe and
Asia.

•

FII represented B.C.’s interest in working closely with the
federal government and Canada’s embassies and consulates to
address international governments’ procurement policies and
their recognition of forest products from legally harvested and
sustainably-managed forests.

Forestry Innovation Investment
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Building the Market for Wood in China
A trade mission to China in November, 2010
set record sales of 418 million board feet of
lumber. A highlight of the mission was a
ground breaking ceremony for construction
of three wood-frame demonstration
buildings near Beijing. Demonstration
buildings are a key element of the China
marketing program as they show how
B.C. lumber and building systems can be
adapted to local needs.
China is the fastest growing export market
for B.C. forest products. Exports in 2010
increased more than 75% over 2009.

Other risks to performance
In addition to these risks and opportunities, several other factors had an influence on the demand for B.C. forest products in
2010/11, and as a result, the ability of FII to achieve its performance targets. These included:
•

Currency exchange rates: The value of the Canadian dollar is a major determinant of the international competitiveness
of B.C. forest products (and industry profitability). The value of the Canadian dollar to the U.S. dollar remained high
through 2010/11, reducing the price competitiveness of B.C. products in the U.S. and other global markets.

•

Transportation: The Canadian forest products industry has enjoyed low-cost “back haul” rates on containers being
shipped from the west coast of North America to China. The dramatic increase in B.C. lumber exports to China, however,
led to capacity issues beginning in 2009/10 that continued through 2010/11. As a consequence, the industry has faced
rapidly escalating container costs, particularly into China.

•

Energy prices: Oil prices trended higher during 2010/11 as the global economy recovered and as political uncertainty in
the Middle East increased. Since the value of the Canadian dollar is closely tied to the world price for oil, higher energy
costs have impacted the B.C. forest sector through weaker U.S. demand overall and a higher value for the Canadian dollar.

•

Industry financial capacity: The severe downturn in the forest industry has significantly tightened trade association
budgets, which are based on fees from member companies. As a result, the capacity of associations to share the cost of
international marketing programs has been constrained.

Service Plan Annual Report 2010/11
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Goal 1

Goal 1: Expanded Market Opportunities That Are Beneficial To The B.C. Forest Sector
Goal 1 reflects FII’s basic mandate. Three objectives guide the strategies related to this goal:
•
•
•

maintaining market share and presence in major markets, such as the United States and Japan;
diversifying into new geographic markets, such as China and South Korea; and
developing new products and niche markets.

Growing Asian Markets
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In 2010/11 FII also invested in initiatives to build capacity
in the B.C. value added wood sector and to fund product
development and technical research to ensure that the
B.C. industry remains globally competitive.
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led by WoodWORKS! BC. Both efforts experienced strong
gains during the year.
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FII’s approach in 2010/11 placed increased emphasis on
Asia, with a particular focus on the fast-growing China
market. This effort built on the growing interest in B.C.
wood products and building technologies among major
Chinese developers, an increasing emphasis on green
development and new national building codes that
support wood construction. These efforts are beginning
to pay significant dividends for the B.C. forest products
industry. Since FII and the industry began a joint market
development program in China in 2005, exports have
increased more than 10-fold. In 2010, B.C. exports had
another record breaking year with total sales of $687
million, more than twice the value of 2009. This trend has
continued into 2010, with January through March sales
double those of the same period last year.

3. Includes project conversions in which the Wood Products Council US WoodWorks
team is directly involved, as well as projects where wood is included because the
building designers or engineers were exposed to the US WoodWorks program.
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Market Trends in 2010/11

The weakening in B.C. exports of forest products began
for most wood products, pulp and paper markets in 2007
with exports reaching their lowest point in 2009. The
modest recovery seen in 2010 was strongest in softwood
lumber and pulp where growing demand from China
partially offset continued weak markets in the US. B.C.
exported 30.4 million m³ of softwood lumber in 2010, up
17% from 25.9 million m³ in 2009. Exports of plywood and
OSB remained mired at the low levels evident since the
collapse of the U.S. housing market.
The US housing market improved only slightly during
the year, with housing starts at 587,000, far below their
historic range of 1 to 2 million. The high number of
foreclosed homes on the market, low prices and tight
credit continued to keep new home construction at
low levels.
China has been the driver behind global growth following
the financial crisis, and its strong demand for wood
products continued in 2010. B.C. softwood lumber exports
to China increased from 2.5 million m³ in 2009 to 4.5
million m³ in 2010 and Canada (B.C.) surpassed Russia as
China’s largest softwood lumber supplier according to
Chinese import statistics.

19

Japan’s demand for B.C. wood products recovered
significantly in 2010, with B.C. exports of softwood
lumber increasing by 23% to approximately
2.5 million m3. Housing starts picked up after
a record low in 2009, and wood construction grew
at more than twice the pace. Canada regained its
position as Japan’s largest source of softwood lumber
in 2010, just ahead of Europe. The effects of the recent
earthquake and tsunami in Japan are now being felt
in B.C. industry, where the demand for wood products,
especially panels, has increased significantly in the wake
of the disaster.
The following chart and tables document trends in B.C.’s
share of the market in key countries over the past decade,
and highlight FII and overall industry performance relative
to the goals and objectives contained in the 2010/11
Service Plan.

4.1 %

China

111.5 million m3
B.C. Sales 4.6 million m3

2010 sales and market share of B.C. softwood products in key markets
Based on sales of five softwood products (lumber, plywood, OSB, particleboard and
MDF) and B.C.’s share of total domestic consumption in each market. The size
of the circle is proportional to the total size of each market for the five softwood
product lines. (Note: China consumption data includes hardwood plywood.)

0.2 %
12.2 %

United States
3

107.1 million m
B.C. Sales 13.1 million m3

South Korea
3

11.1 million m
B.C. Sales 278,500 m3
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2.5 %

European 3Union
136 million m
B.C. Sales 237,000 m3

Japan

23.4 million m3
11.1 %
B.C. Sales 2.6 million m3
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Thousand Cubic Metres

B.C. Softwood Commodity Product Sales in the United States. (Softwood lumber, plywood, OSB, MDF and particleboard)
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B.C. Softwood Commodity Product Sales in China. (Softwood lumber, plywood, OSB, MDF and particleboard)
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B.C. Softwood Commodity Product Sales in Japan. (Softwood lumber, plywood, OSB, MDF and particleboard)

Thousand Cubic Metres
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Thousand Cubic Metres

B.C. Softwood Commodity Product Sales in the South Korea. (Softwood lumber, plywood, OSB, MDF and particleboard)
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B.C. Softwood Commodity Product Sales in E.U.4 (Softwood lumber, plywood, OSB, MDF and particleboard)
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A summary of B.C. exports, import shares and consumption shares, as well as the latest monthly sales reports and historical
data on exports are available at: http://www.bcfii.ca/tools-resources/market-research/.

Strategies

Underpinning FII’s approach to achieving Goal 1 objectives is the provision of core funding for marketing programs initiated
and delivered by industry trade associations. Each year, roughly half of FII’s budget is directed towards these activities. With
the exception of China, the majority of spending in foreign markets is through trade association activities. Reflecting the
objective to maintain, develop and diversify market demand, funding is spread across major and new markets as illustrated
in the table, “Summary of Funding Allocations 2008/09-2010/11”.

4. Due to a change in data sourcing methodology, B.C. market share in the EU is
only available from 2005.
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Summary of Funding Allocations 2008/09 – 2010/115
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‘Recipient Funding’ refers to funding provided to industry associations and other groups to carry out market development activities that they propose. “Recipient Funding” also
includes funding for the Business Innovation Partnership. Amounts include associated program administration.
Market Initiatives and Outreach refers to funding for product and market development activities managed directly by FII, including market research, market outreach and
demonstration projects. Amounts include $470,948 for Wood First initiatives.
‘China Operations’ refers to activities directly managed by FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
‘China: Other Funding’ refers to funding provided by the B.C. Ministry of Small Business, Technology and Economic Development, the federal government (Natural Resources
Canada) and other agencies. The amount for 2010/11 includes $1.3 million from deferred revenue.
‘Corporate Support’ refers to FII’s accounting and general office functions that support all program delivery.

FII’s strategies to achieve Goal 1 include:
•

Developing opportunities for B.C.’s forest industry through market research, marketing programs targeted to
priority markets and sectors, and expanding wood use in recreational, commercial and institutional sectors across
North America.

•

Fostering acceptance of Canadian wood building systems through demonstration projections, updating building and
fire codes, and unblocking potential trade barriers.

•

Encouraging customers to accept B.C. wood products as preferred materials through promotional and educational
programs targeted to architects, engineers, developers and other key influencers; and by raising awareness of the
green benefits of building with wood.

•

Pursuing technical research and product innovation to position B.C. products globally by funding research projects
in engineered wood products, value-added products and the pulp and paper sector.

•

Supporting B.C.’s Wood First Initiative – making British Columbia a leader in wood use – by funding the Business
Innovation Program, product innovation and technical research, and promotion in the non-residential program.

Forestry Innovation Investment
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Select Highlights From 2010/11
Opening New Markets For Wood Iin Northern China

Breaking Into The Multi-Family Market

Leveraging Government-Industry Connections

The Vancouver Pavilion At Expo 2010, Shanghai

In July, 2010, FII signed an MOU with the Hebei
provincial government to construct a wood frame
construction demonstration project. The Hebei
Building Science Research Centre is the first
demonstration project in a province that has quickly
commercialized wood frame construction. The new
centre will conduct studies on building materials and
serve as venue for wood frame construction seminars
and training. As a showcase building it will also be
regularly visited by Chinese government officials
from across China and by international visitors.

During 2010/11, FII coordinated two highly successful
trade missions to China. The 10-day trade mission
in November resulted in the signing of three MOUs
and the first meeting of the bi-lateral Joint Working
Committee established as part of the cooperation
with MOHURD. During the March 2011 trade mission,
the delegation attended the Beijing Green Building
Show, where Minister Bell unveiled a pre-fabricated
demonstration apartment building that was
assembled outside the venue in just 60 hours.

Service Plan Annual Report 2010/11

In November, 2010, Minister of Forests, Mines
and Lands, Pat Bell, signed the Canada-B.C.-China
agreement on cooperation and research in wood
frame construction. Under the agreement with the
Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development,
a high-level, bi-lateral Joint Working Committee
and Expert Panel were established to carry out joint
activities. The first selected project is the ambitious
four-storey Tianjin TEDA Apartment Project, which
will break the three-storey barrier for wood frame
buildings in China.

FII successfully designed, built and operated the
Vancouver Pavilion at Expo 2010 in Shanghai. The
Pavilion provided a showcase for key messages on
wood and wood frame construction. The Pavilion
was open for six months and received 649,600
visitors. Media coverage of wood frame construction
increased by 60 per cent in 2010 generating an
equivalent advertising value estimated at $1.3 million.

Forestry Innovation Investment
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“The exposure we gained was equivalent to hosting 400 trade
shows on how wood-frame construction can sustainably meet
China’s development needs. It was a tremendous opportunity to
promote our products and technology, and build on the market
inroads we have made since 2003.”
- Minister of Forests, Mines and Lands, Pat Bell, on visiting the
Vancouver Pavilion at Expo 2010 Shanghai in November 2010

Other Example Accomplishments In 2010/11
•

In Japan, promotional efforts to grow wood frame construction in the institutional sector are continuing
to bear fruit. In 2010/11, 18 fire-code approved projects were started or completed in the elder care
segment compared to seven the previous year. Market research forecasts that, by 2015, volumes of
spruce-pine-fir (SPF) lumber used in this segment will grow to between 58,000 and almost 100,000
m3 per year. Also recent Japanese government approval for enhanced shear wall values for Canadian
Oriented Strand Board (OSB) panels has proven timely in light of the increased emphasis on seismic
design of buildings following the East Japan earthquake and tsunami in early March 2011.

•

In Korea, FII has continued to support extensive training for architects and designers. In 2010/11, over 675
people participated in a series of custom training programs. The efforts have now gained traction in the
Korean design community to the extent that graduates of the Canada Wood programs are becoming
the leaders in the wood frame construction sector and are increasingly winning Korean Wood Design
Awards.

•

In India, a visit by FII’s CEO in early 2010 and subsequent efforts by Canada Wood Group, with FII funding,
were instrumental in eliminating longstanding non-tariff barriers to the entry of Canadian lumber
species, including western Canadian SPF and Canadian cedars. As a result , the emerging Indian market is
finally open to Canadian forest product companies.

Forestry Innovation Investment
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B.C. Softwood Lumber Exports
to Priority Asia Pacific Markets
(thousands of cubic metres)6
A

Consisting of:

China
Japan7
S. Korea8

2008/09 2009/10
Actual
Actual

2010/11
Target/
Actual
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Target
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

4,056

4,725

6,268/7,169

8,868

9.604

10,322

1,244
2,707
105

2,589
1,986
150

3,700/4,562
2,400/2,447
168/160

6,3009
2,400
186

7,900
2,400
204

9,500
2,400
222

B

Incremental Sales Generated in U.S.
Non-Residential Market
(millions of board feet)10

n/a

180

340/552

470

600

775

C

Incremental Sales Generated in the
B.C. Non-Residential Market
(millions of board feet)

36

5211

52/72

86

95

105

6 Performance Measure A is broadly influenced by global economic conditions beyond the control or direct influence of FII or the provincial government (refer to discussion under
“Risks and capacity issues”); however, export data provide a helpful indicator of overall progress by FII and its funding recipients in fostering market diversification.
7 It should be noted that many specialty products formerly shipped from B.C. to Japan (e.g., Douglas-fir, cedar, Sitka spruce) are now often exported from B.C. to China,
manufactured into value-added products, and re-exported to Japan. This is increasing B.C. export volumes to China while reducing shipments from B.C. to Japan. The trend is
expected to continue and is factored into export targets.
8 Lumber consumed in structural applications (residential, non-residential and additions).
9 6.3 million m3 converts to approximately 4 billion board feet (volume target for China per the current Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations for FII) using a net cubic meter to
board foot factor of .628.
10 Prior to 2010/11, volumes reported were total “influenced”, regardless of the status of the building (in design stage or under construction). At the direction of the Wood Products
Council Board, reported sales volumes and targets for 2010/11 and beyond are now based upon “direct” building conversions. These conversions are buildings in which the
WoodWorks team is directly involved with the architect or engineer, providing one-on-one technical assistance and solving issues related to the building and wood design.  
Despite the change to a more rigorous tracking methodology, targets and actuals for 2010/11 have been increased.
11 Actuals for 2009/10 have been revised to 180 million m3 from 155 million m3 reported previously to reflect more complete data.”Actuals for 2009/10 were adjusted upward by
the Canadian Wood Council to 52 million board feet from the 43 million board feet reported in the 2009/10 Service Plan Annual Report

Helping Architect’s to Think “Wood First” -- naturally:wood Architect Toolkit
Demand for FII’s Buyers Guide to British Columbia Wood Products, along
with architect research in Canada and the US pointed to the need for
a comprehensive resource that makes it easy for architects to begin
exploring options to build and design with wood, including green building
considerations. To meet this need, FII created a physical toolkit as a gateway
to the wealth of information that is available via the Internet. A high level
overview of the merits of wood, wood and green building tools, technical
information, design tips and more have been included in order to provide
architects with a taste of the wide array of support material available and
to point them to association and company websites for more information.

“The Architect’s Toolkit is a key resource for builders and designers as they
embrace wood for its beauty, sustainability, strength and cost-effectiveness.”
- Mary Tracey, executive director, Wood WORKS! BC

Service Plan Annual Report 2010/11
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Importance of measures

Performance Measure A tracks the extent to which the B.C. forest industry shifts its reliance away from the United States,
and continues to sell to Asian customers even when demand rebounds in the United States. This is a measure of long-term
diversity of the customer base, and greater overall demand. The figures are based on Statistics Canada export data.
The outcome tracked by Performance Measure A is heavily weighted to experience in China, where a particularly large share
of FII investments are leveraging joint industry and government (provincial and federal) market development efforts.
Performance Measure B tracks success in introducing wood frame technology to the non-residential construction sector in
the United States as a way of lessening the BC industry’s overwhelming reliance on U.S. residential construction. The U.S.
program figures are based on reports from the Wood Products Council (WPC), which tracks the volume of wood used in U.S.
non-residential construction. Figures indicated are incremental dimension lumber volumes generated through program
activities funded by FII in partnership with the WPC.
Performance Measure C tracks success in increasing wood usage in the B.C. non-residential construction sector, a core
objective of the province’s Wood First strategy. Figures for B.C. are incremental dimension lumber volumes generated
through program activities funded by FII in partnership with the Canadian Wood Council.

Performance analysis

Performance Measure A was exceeded in 2010/11, driven largely by the continued rapid growth in the export of dimension
lumber, particularly shipments of spruce-pine-fir (SPF) lumber. B.C. lumber exports to Japan met targets. Shipments of B.C.
lumber used in structural applications in Korea grew during the year but at a lower than expected rate, so did not meet the
target; however, shipments of B.C. SPF during the first three months of 2011 have shown solid growth. It should be noted that
the targets for exports to China in 2012/13 and 2013/14 were revised upward substantially in the FII Service Plan for 2011/12 –
2013/14 reflecting the exceptionally strong performance to-date. These new targets are reflected in the table.
Performance Measure B was exceeded in 2010/11. Targets for Performance Measure B for 2011/12 to 2013/14 have been revised
upward to reflect the growing momentum of the U.S. WoodWorks program.
Performance Measure C was exceeded in 2010/11 and forecasts for future years increased to reflect data on projected
construction starts in 2011/12. Actuals for 2009/10 have been adjusted upwards to 52 million board feet (see footnote 11)

Data source/Reporting period
•

Performance Measure A: Statistics Canada; Korean Ministry of Lands and Transportation

•

Performance Measure B: Wood Products Council, U.S. WoodWorks program

•

Performance Measure C: Canadian Wood Council, WoodWORKS! BC program

Risk and capacity issues

The continuing downturn of the forest economy lessened the ability of forest companies to fund industry associations in
2010/11, and thus for associations to financially support international marketing programs. By re-allocating funds from
internal programming to support association delivered programs, FII was largely able to mitigate the impact of reduced
industry capacity in 2010/11.
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Goal 2: International Recognition of B.C. as The Leading Supplier
of Environmentally Superior Forest Products
Goal 2 reflects growing consumer interest in protecting forests by only using products from sustainably managed forests.
B.C. is well positioned because the province has more forest area certified to environmentally sustainable standards than
any other jurisdiction in the world, with the exception of Canada as a whole. Promoting B.C.’s forest practices benefits the
forest sector by differentiating B.C. forest products from those of competitors, and by raising general awareness of wood use
in terms of protecting the environment. This helps to expand overall market demand for B.C. lumber, and is a key element in
delivering the niche strategies in Goal 1.
The strategies used by FII in 2010/11 to achieve Goal 2 were to:
•

Gather market intelligence through research and surveys;

•

Monitor and analyze issues raised in the trade media and on the Internet;

•

Produce information materials targeted to international and domestic markets;

•

Financially support the development of life cycle assessment tools to validate the environmental
benefits of building with wood;

•

Advocate in situations or markets where B.C. forest products are being unfairly targeted; and

•

Provide international customers with timely, credible information on B.C. forest practices and
products, including pulp and paper.

Highlights from 2010/11
Quantifying Wood’s Environmental Benefits

Connecting Buyers and Sellers

•

Commissioned research to quantify the greenhouse
gas reductions from using wood rather than other
building materials. The work supports the conclusion
that the single biggest GHG mitigation effect in the
construction materials field would come from using
sustainably-harvested wood to replace non-wood
materials.

•

•

Documented the carbon footprint of shipping B.C.
lumber products approximately 16,000 kilometres
to the United Kingdom to confirm the net carbon
benefit of using Canadian lumber (because B.C.
lumber stores more carbon than is emitted during its
respective harvest, manufacture and transport).

•

Co-published with US WoodWorks “Materials
in Action”, the second of a three-part series
documenting the environmental footprint of wood,
concrete, and steel. This document was prepared in
response to competitive communications research by
the concrete and steel industry, as well as architect
feedback with regards to misperception. It covers
material performance during construction, operation
and end-of-life, reaffirming that in the quest for
carbon-neutral buildings, materials do matter.
Wood Rates: How Wood Products Stack Up in Green
Building Systems was the published earlier in 2010
and was one of the top ten most popular Continuing
Education courses for architects last year.
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Completed a substantial upgrade of the www.
naturally:wood.com forest products directory to
ensure accuracy of content. Between June 1, 2010
and March 31, 2011, over 2600 product and company
searches on the site resulted in subsequent online
visits to 430 individual BC manufacturer’s websites.

Promoting B.C.’s Sustainable Forest Management
•

Conducted a European Union forestry tour to
introduce policy experts in the area of illegal
logging to the rigorous standards used in
managing B.C. forests

•

Reached over 2.1 million consumers, architects,
engineers, and contacts in the building sector
with advertising and promotion relating to B.C.’s
sustainable forest practices.
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Goal 2

European Union Forestry Mission to B.C.
In September, 2010 FII hosted a delegation of European Union government and non-governmental experts on illegal
logging. Participants from Belgium, France, Netherlands and Italy had the opportunity to see firsthand British
Columbia’s approaches to sustainable forest management, the rigorous legislative framework governing forest
management in Canada and to experience the size of Canada’s forests. Delegates were able to see for themselves
Canada’s leadership in forest certification and that the management systems in place meet all the sustainable forest
management objectives of governments in Canada. The officials also saw how the three forest certification standards
used in Canada complement the existing laws, regulations and policies by providing customers with additional proof
that the products they are buying come from legal and sustainable sources.

“The study tour made it clear that forest management in
Canada and parts of the United States is innovative. Other
countries can certainly learn from it, as Australia has shown.”
- Excerpt from the report ”Wisdom Comes from the West” authored by Patrick Jansen,
PROBOS Foundation – Wageningen, the Netherlands
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Goal 2

Performance Measure

D

Percent of customers who feel that
choosing products from B.C. (Canada)
is a good choice for the environment

2008/09
Actual

2009/10
Actual

2010/11
Target/
Actual

2011/12

100%

n/a

90%/98%

n/a
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Target
2012/13 2013/14
90%

n/a

Importance of measures

The measure tracks the effectiveness of FII programs at influencing consumer views regarding the environmental reputation
of the B.C. forest sector.

Performance analysis

Performance measure D was achieved in 2010/11. The British Columbia and Canadian governments and the forest industry
have been working together to address environmental interests and to build strong communications and customer
relationships. As shown through the result of the bi-annual survey, these efforts have begun to stabilize opinions regarding
the quality of forest management practices in British Columbia and Canada.

Data source/Reporting period

The measure is tracked through a bi-annual survey of international customers conducted in co-operation with other
members of the Canadian forest sector. The research is conducted by an independent third party organization.

Risk and capacity issues

FII has the staff and resources to achieve Goal 2.

Service Plan Annual Report 2010/11

Forestry Innovation Investment

Goal 3

30

			

Goal 3: FII is a Highly Effective, Innovative and Responsive Organization
FII is committed to sound business practices incorporating robust financial controls, a performance management framework
and a monitoring, audit and evaluation program built on a comprehensive risk-assessment strategy. All of these activities
reflect government policies and guidelines. FII is also committed to a path of environmental sustainability in order to protect
the natural environment and the B.C. economy for future generations.
The strategies to achieve Goal 3 are to:
•

Ensure FII is efficient, transparent and results focused by:
»»

Keeping corporate support costs at or below 7% of total budget

»»

Implementing a rigorous program of monitoring, auditing and evaluating projects delivered
by other organizations, according to explicit risk assessments

»»

Ensuring regular and accurate reporting on the results of investments in support
of corporate goals and objectives in accordance with government and contractual
requirements

»»

Ensuring the integrity and timeliness of funding to other organizations for activities that
will enhance forest sector well-being

•

Attract and retain expert staff who are dedicated to the organization’s success and committed to
continuous improvement.

•

Embrace socially responsible practices, including minimizing the organization’s carbon footprint,
promoting environmentally responsible business activities, and purchasing environmentally
friendly products.

Highlights from 2010/11
Maintaining Efficiency and Transparency

Attracting Expert Staff

•

two internal audits covering the Wenchuan
Earthquake Reconstruction Project expenditures,
and other externally funded demonstration project
expenditures in China found no significant issues
and concluded all activities followed all appropriate
practices and policies.

•

•

corporate support costs, at 5.9% of total budget, were
below the target of 7%.

Embracing Social Responsibility

Forestry Innovation Investment

•

Added a Financial controller to the FII China
operation in Shanghai to strengthen the financial
management for the operations conducted in China.

Travel, paper consumption and electricity use were
closely monitored as part of a strategy to lessen
carbon emissions and energy footprint.
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Goal 3

Performance Measure

E

Timeliness of
annual funding
cycle for trade
associations,
research institutes,
and universities

2008/09
Actual

2009/10
Actual

2010/11
Target/
Actual

Competitive
funding
process
completed
before April 1

Competitive
funding
process
completed
before April 1

Competitive
funding
process is
completed
by April 1
/ Process
completed
before April 1
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Target
2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

Competitive
funding
process is
completed
by April 1
(Note 12)

Competitive
funding
process is
completed
by April 1

Competitive
funding
process is
completed
by April 1

12 The Federal election in May 2011 has delayed funding available to recipients from NRCan’s Canada Wood Export Program. This will make it difficult for recipients who rely on
matching Federal funding to be ready to sign a funding agreement with FII by April 1st

Performance analysis

Performance Measure E was achieved in 2010/11. The measure is closely tied to FII’s relationship with Natural Resources
Canada and the integrated funding process.

Importance of measures

About half of FII’s budget is used to fund activities proposed through an annual Call for Proposals, which attracts roughly 70
proposals describing thousands of proposed activities, detailing specific cost estimates and cost sharing. Proposals are peer
reviewed and explicitly point ranked against pre-set evaluation criteria. Performance Measure E tracks how efficient FII’s is in
managing the annual funding process, which culminates in funding being available to successful proponents by the start of
each fiscal year.

Data source/Reporting period

Performance Measure E: internal tracking by FII.

Risk and capacity issues

Drawing on expertise from the private sector, the research community, and academia, FII has the staff and resources to
achieve Goal 3.

Note to performance measures

Accountability and responsibilities for performance monitoring and assessment exist at all levels within FII and extend to
organizations and contractors that provide services or deliver initiatives on behalf of FII.
Historically, over half of FII’s provincial funding has been used to support activities of industry trade associations, forest
research institutes, and post-secondary institutions. While the overall responsibility for performance management rests with
FII, the accountability for investments and their successful contribution towards program and organizational goals is shared
with each of FII’s funding recipients. Furthermore, the accountability for specific areas of progress measurement / data
collection and reporting is shared with those organizations.
FII has a comprehensive performance management framework that monitors and evaluates all external and internal
expenditures.
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FII Corporate Social Responsibility
FII is committed to environmental sustainability in order to protect the natural environment and the B.C. economy for future
generations. This approach allows FII to continue delivering short- and long-term benefits to stakeholders, employees and
the communities where FII operates, while enhancing the capacity to conduct business. FII has established two overarching
priorities as the basis of its environmental responsibility policy:
•

reducing the intensity of the organization’s environmental footprint; and

•

promoting environmentally responsible business activities.

As documented elsewhere in this Report, FII is carbon-neutral and continues to reduce its direct and indirect greenhouse gas
emissions. Its procurement policy ensures that all forest products are sourced from sustainably managed forests.
FII is committed to socially responsible practices in all business activities. In 2010/11, these included:
•

public tendering of all major contracts through a transparent application and selection process (BC Bidsanctioned);

•

financial reporting on a timely basis that met or exceeded government guidelines;

•

acting professionally and ethically in all business relationships, both in Canada and abroad;

•

ensuring a safe, equitable and discrimination-free work environment for all staff;

•

encouraging professional development by staff to improve organizational productivity, innovation and personal
satisfaction levels; and

•

maintaining internal controls to ensure all standards are met.

FII’s mandate includes promoting B.C. as the leading global supplier of environmentally friendly products from sustainably
managed forests. In 2010/11, FII activities included:
•

supporting a science-based approach, particularly life cycle assessments, to determine the relative merits of
building products and other forest products;

•

working with businesses and governments in many countries to promote the use of products from firms whose
forest management has been independently certified to robust management standards;

•

advocating for inclusive procurement policies that accept forest products based on all bona fide certification
systems, most notably Canadian Standards Association (CSA), Forest Stewardship Council (FSC), the Sustainable
Forestry Initiative (SFI), and the Programme for the Endorsement of Certification schemes (PEFC);

•

promoting the use of wood products from well managed forests as an environmentally sustainable and a “green”
choice; and

•

encouraging the recipients of FII funding to adopt business practices that reduce the environmental footprint of
their operations.

Details on the actions being taken in support of the policy are posted at:
http://www.bcfii.ca/aboutus/corporate/corporate-reports/.
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Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations
The 2009/10 Service Plan Annual Report reflects the Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations (SLE) signed by the
Minister of Forests and Range in January 2010 and updated in October 2010. At a high level, the Minister
instructed FII to:
•

position British Columbia as a global supplier of world-class environmentally friendly forest products;

•

actively maintain, create and diversify demand for B.C. forest products in Canada and in key world markets;

•

help break down non-tariff trade and market barriers to ensure opportunities for B.C. forest products;

•

work with the forest industry to promote B.C.’s world-leading forest products and forest management to the
global marketplace; and

•

help ensure that the forest sector, through product development and strong international sales, continues to be a
leading contributor to the B.C. economy.

The following table summarizes specific direction in the current SLE, and the relevant actions by FII:

SLE Direction to FII

Response to Direction

Ensure that market development activities
are founded on sound market research and
in particular focus FII market development
activities in China, Japan, Korea and the
United States.

FII, Natural Resources Canada and the private sector routinely
collaborate to assess country-specific market potential and develop
strategies that are typically updated every three years. The countries
named in the SLE accounted for almost all of FII’s country-specific
budget allocations in 2010/11.

Establish a Cabinet-approved Board of
Directors for FII’s China subsidiary populated
with forest industry and other B.C. individuals
to ensure that B.C. firms sell four billion board
feet of lumber to China by 2011; maximize the
coordination, efficiency and effectiveness of
all B.C. -led programming in China through
management of FII China’s activities and
through funding provided by FII China to
trade associations working in China; and
ensure market development programs comply
with recognized Canadian business practices,
as well as Chinese law.

Six senior BC forest industry employees were appointed to the new
Board, along with the CEO of FII Ltd. in May 2010. The Board met
four times in 2010/11, including a meeting on October 31 in Shanghai,
China.

Maintain or increase British Columbia’s share
of forest product imports in Japan, Korea and
the United States.

With the exception of its subsidiary company’s presence in China, FII
pursued its market development goals primarily by providing funds to
B.C. trade associations with staff on the ground in foreign countries.
For commodity sales (i.e., lumber, plywood, oriented strandboard,
medium density fibreboard and particleboard), B.C.’s share of Japanese
imports was 26%, up 2% from the previous year. B.C.’s share of Korean
imports was 8%, approximately the same as in 2009. For the United
States, B.C.’s share of imports was 49%, down marginally from 2009.
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Lumber sales to China in 2010 were up 76 per cent from 2009 levels.
Internal audits confirm that all business practices meet the standards
of normal Canadian business practices and Chinese law.
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SLE Direction to FII

Response to Direction

Encourage forest industry trade associations
to harmonize their activities and programs to
ensure the most effective outcomes

With FII support, industry associations have consolidated activities
under the Canada Wood brand in Japan and South Korea, leading
to operational and marketing efficiencies. In China, appointment
of an industry-led Board of Directors for the China subsidiary has
further consolidated activities and provided opportunities to increase
efficiencies.

Harmonize all market development programs
with those of the Government of Canada.

FII and Natural Resources Canada collaborated, along with the private
sector, in developing and implementing the market development
programs in Asia. In addition, FII co-funded the Business Innovation
Program with Western Economic Diversification in 2010/11.

Ensure Asia-related priorities and strategies
are driven by the provincial government’s
Asia-Pacific Gateway objectives.

FII continued to focus primarily on stimulating the export of forest
products to China, Japan and Korea. In addition, FII collaborated with
the Ministry of Technology, Trade and Economic Development and the
Ministry of Forests, Mines and Lands to facilitate and promote foreign
investment in the B.C. forest industry.

Intervene whenever necessary to ensure
that foreign regulators and customers do
not discriminate against B.C. forest products
through adoption of unfair procurement
policies.

In 2010/11 FII continued to take the lead role in this function, with
three-quarters of its internal Vancouver-based programming
dedicated to:
• monitoring media in other countries as well as in Canada;
• researching foreign customer and official opinions about B.C.
forest products; and
• promoting the environment merits of B.C. forest products,
particularly in the context of the green building phenomenon and
public concern about climate change.
In addition, FII continued to provide funding to trade associations to
carry out market access initiatives in China, Japan and India.

Make approximately half of FII funds available
to other organizations through an annual
competitive process, and according to costsharing rules specified by the Minister

For 2010/11, FII directed over half of its provincial funding (not
including for Wenchuan Earthquake reconstruction in China) to other
organizations.

Promote the development of new
technologies and wood products domestically
and internationally.

In 2010/11 worked in close collaboration with government and
industry partners to explore new building technologies under the
Wood First initiative. FII initiatives in 2010/11 included:
• funding technical research into the use of B.C. species in the
production of cross-laminated timber.
• Providing funding to the Wood Enterprise Coalition to undertake
research on the opportunities and technical challenges involved
in building taller wood buildings.
• Providing $880,000 to the Business Innovation Program to assist
value-added firms with business planning, product design and
manufacturing, and marketing.
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Response to Direction

Promote the Wood First initiative in Canada,
including working cooperatively with the
Wood Innovation and Design Centre in Prince
George to promote Wood First.

FII provided $1.75 million of start-up funds for the Wood Enterprise
Coalition to support Wood First initiatives including education,
outreach and demonstration projects designed to increase the use of
wood in public and private projects in B.C. FII has continued to work
with the WEC in support of Wood First objectives.

Work with the economic development
ministries to promote the government’s
trade strategies, and coordinate these efforts
with the ministries’ offices abroad, including
officials in China, Korea, Japan and both
offices in India, recognizing that FII is part of
B.C.’s overall international strategy.

In 2010/11, FII continued as the Province’s key agency in promoting
trade in forest products, particularly in Asia. In delivering its
programming, FII worked closely with the Province’s trade offices
abroad and with the federal Department of Foreign Affairs and
International Trade.

Operate according to the terms of a funding
agreement with the Ministry of Forests
and Range that provides for, among other
things, audit plans, internal audits, monthly,
quarterly, and annual reporting, and annual
reconciliation statements.

FII operated in accordance with a January 2008 funding agreement
with the Ministry, which includes all the elements listed in the
Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations.

Follow government best practices in
procurement and contracting policies,
including ownership of intellectual property.

FII has invoked formal policies and contractual content that cause it,
and its funding recipients, to meet this instruction.

Comply with the Shareholder’s requirements
to make the Public Sector carbon neutral by
2010, including accurately defining, measuring,
reporting on and verifying the greenhouse gas
emissions from the Corporation’s operations;
implementing aggressive measures to reduce
those emissions and reporting on these
reduction measures and reduction plans; and
offsetting any remaining emissions through
investments in the Pacific Carbon Trust, which
will invest in greenhouse gas reduction projects
outside of the Corporation’s scope of operations.

FII is in compliance with the Province’s directives on climate change. In
2010 FII began purchasing carbon offsets from the Pacific Carbon Trust
to make the organization carbon neutral.
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FII audited its Vancouver office in 2009 and subsequently made changes
to reduce electrical consumption, shift to recycled paper, and undertake
other green initiatives. These practices continued in 2010/11 as well as
participation in energy saving initiatives by the landlord, such as the
creation of a Green Team with the support of BC Hydro. Elimination of
one position in mid-2010 lead to the cancellation of a car lease and the
closing of a satellite office in Quesnel, with a subsequent reduction in
FII’s carbon output.
The vast majority of FII’s carbon footprint is attributable to the China
subsidiary because nearly 80% of Chinese electricity production is coal
based. Efforts have continued to reduce electricity consumption at
offices in Shanghai and Beijing.
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Management discussion and analysis

FII began the year expecting to spend a total of $24.1 million based on:
• $18.8 million in funding from the Ministry of Forests and Range
• $3.3 million for Wenchuan Earthquake projects, to be provided by the Ministry of Small Business, Technology
and Economic Development; and
• $2.0 for commercially oriented demonstration projects in China, to be provided by the Government of Canada.
Actual expenditures (including non-cash items), compared to the previous year, were as follows:
2009/10
$ million
Actual costs:
• cash
• pre-paid lease of Dream Home Canada
• amortization
TOTAL
Payments to other organizations based on
annual Call for Proposals

25.690

0.000
0.331

26.021
$8.90 million, or 34% of total
expenditures

2010/11
$ million
26.368

1.003

0.436

27.807

$10.8 million, or 38% of total
expenditures

The actual cash expenditure of $26.0 million included $4.7 million for Wenchuan Earthquake reconstruction in China and
$2.8 million for China Demonstration projects. This was offset by a cash contribution of $3.3 million from the Ministry of
Jobs, Tourism and Innovation, $1.0 million of revenue received in 2009/10 but deferred to 2010/11, $2.3 from Natural Resources
Canada, and $0.3 million from Beichuan County in China.
FII’s payments to funding recipients covered 37% of the total cost of their projects, with the Government of Canada
contributing 46% and the funding recipients contributing 17%. Although cost-share rules remained the same as in the
previous year, FII’s share was down from 38% the previous year, reflecting changes in the mix of funded activities.
Funding recipients ultimately spent $0.365 million (or 4%) less than was committed to them at the beginning of the year.
Under-spending was because their Market Development Program projects were scaled back, delayed or cancelled.
In managing recipient agreements with trade associations and others, FII pressed hard in 2010/11 for those organizations to
advise FII well in advance if they were not going to spend all that had been advanced to them. The “surprise” net year-end
turn-back of $0.109 million was much less than in previous years.
In total, FII’s final net under-spending was $0.104 million relative to the initial plan. This was entirely attributable to funding
recipients’ surprise year-end turn back of unspent advances.
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Looking ahead
Budget allocations
For 2011/12, total funding available to FII is expected to be about $19.3 million, down from $25.7 in the previous year. The
change is because:
1. Provincial and federal funding for Wenchuan Earthquake reconstruction projects has ended; and
2. at least at the start of the fiscal year, NRCan will have no program in place to support demonstration projects in
China.
Budget allocations for 2011/12 are expected to be approximately as follows:
• $8.3 million for market development work by trade associations, and $0.7 million to administer the funding program.
Market Development funding will be allocated through the annual Call for Proposals process, with most funds going
to BC trade associations working in China, the United States, Japan and Korea. Cost-share rules for the funding will be
significantly different from prior years because activities will be categorized as either “finding new opportunities” or
“maintaining mature markets”. Funding recipients will have to contribute relatively more to the latter.
• $900 thousand for the Business Innovation Program, managed in much the same manner as in the prior year.
• $2.8 million to FII China, the same amount as in 2010/11.
• $1.2 million to support Wood First initiatives.
• $500 thousand for product development initiatives led by FII staff.
• $3.2 million for FII’s self-initiated market outreach and development initiatives.
• $1.2 million for FII’s corporate support.
That said, there is unprecedented uncertainty in respect of activities to be undertaken by trade associations, and thus
considerable uncertainty about FII’s funding to them. That is because all relevant NRCan programs ended on March 31, 2011
and were not renewed by the time Parliament was dissolved for the federal election in early May. Until a new government is
formed and a new federal budget confirmed, NRCan will be unable to commit any funding to the trade associations. Without
that cost-sharing in place, the associations will be significantly delayed in entering into funding contracts with FII.
Operations
Notwithstanding the federal funding uncertainty, FII will continue to rely heavily on trade associations to develop and deliver
market development programs. FII anticipates working with them to create country-specific strategies based on quantified
sales objectives for each product line and identified end-uses. FII will continue to encourage trade associations to craft a
single harmonized funding proposal for each country based on a unified strategy.
As mentioned above, the federal government’s programs for supporting North American and off-shore market development
ended on March 31, 2011. Although most observers expect the programs to be renewed for 2011/12 and beyond, the market
development work by trade associations is at significant risk until new funding is in place.
In China, the final Wenchuan Earthquake reconstruction project should be completed by mid-summer. Other commercially
oriented demonstration projects will be completed under the auspices of a Joint Working Committee representing
the Chinese Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, the Government of Canada, and the Province of
British Columbia. If the projects prove the asserted merits of wood frame construction and major developers begin
to adopt that technology, the need for large demonstration projects should soon diminish in China, such that available
funds can be directed more to assisting with wood frame design and providing on-the-job quality assurance.
In delivering Market Outreach activities, FII staff will be heavily influenced by input from its industry advisory committees
and experts in the fields of climate-change mitigation, green building, and procurement policies.
Governance
Because one of FII’s Board members left the public service in early 2011, he resigned from FII’s Board and likely will be replaced
by mid-2011. Chinese authorities have been remarkably slow in formally approving of the new Board of Directors for FII
China, but the members of the pending Board nevertheless continue to provide oversight and direction as if the Board were
formally in place.
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Financial

Year-over-year financial data for FII and its subsidiary FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. are summarized in the tables below.
Forestry Innovation Investment
Statement of Funding and Expenditures By Program
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Comparison to Budget and Prior year (in $000s)
Statement of Funding and Expenditures By Program
Comparison to Budget and Prior year

2006/07
Actual

Funding
Receipts - Province of BC
Receipts - Wenchuan Reconstruction
Receipts - NRCan Funded Demo
Transferred from deferred revenue
Total Funding

2007/08
Actual

2008/09
Actual

2009/10
Actual

2010/11
Actual

2010/11
Budget

Variance from
Budget

2011/12
Budget

2012/13
Budget

2013/14
Budget

(under) over

$

$

Expenditures
Market Outreach & Initiatives

24,183
24,183

23,408
23,408

$

20,112

China - Market Development

$

$

17,780

24,377
1,700
26,077

$

$

18,341
(2)

$

23,075
1,847
3,341
28,263

$

17,443
(2)

(1)

18,898
4,772
2,637
26,307

18,800
4,300
2,000
400
25,500

$

14,358

14,900

$

$

$
$
$

98
472
637
1,207

(542)

$
(4)

$

(5)

18,800
200
19,000

$

$

18,800
70
18,870

$

$

18,800
70
18,870

14,830

14,830

14,830

2,189

3,964

2,781

2,800

$

(19)

2,800

2,800

2,800

China - Wenchuan Reconstruction

-

-

1,927

1,697

4,690

4,300

$

390

(3)

-

-

-

China - NRCan Funded Demonstration

-

-

-

3,035

2,761

2,000

$

761

(4)

-

-

-

1,236

1,215

1,137

1,381

1,100

1,100

$

1,170

1,170

1,170

646

449

445

436

331

400

$

(69)

200

70

Corporate Services
Amortization
Total Expenditures

3,815

-

70

$

24,183

$

23,408

$

26,077

$

27,807

$

26,021

$

25,500

$

521

$

19,000

$

18,870

$

18,870

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

456

$

286

$

-

$

286

$

-

$

-

$

-

-

$

-

$

-

$

456

$

286

-

$

286

-

$

-

$

Transfer from Contributed Surplus
Excess of Funding Over Expenditures

4,227

$

-

-

-

-

-

-

$

$

-

-

(1) Includes $1,003 of non cash DHC prepaid lease write-off
(2) Includes $1,370 of non cash DHC prepaid lease write-off
(3) An additional $330K was provide to FII by the Beichuan county during the year
(4) An additional 600K was provided to FII from NRCan in the last quarter

FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
FII Consulting(in
(Shanghai)
Statement of Funding and Expenditures
$000s)Co. Ltd.

Statement of Funding and Expenditures

2008/09 Actual

Funding
Receipts - Forestry Innovation Investment
Total Funding
Expenditures
China - Market Development
Total Expenditures
Operating Income (loss)

$
$

(2)

2009/10 Actual

$
$

4,227
4,227

(2)

2010/11 Actual

3,815
3,815

(1)

2,781
2,781

Variance from
Budget

Variance from
Prior year

(under) over

(under) over

$
$

2,800
2,800

$
$

(19)
(19)

2,800

$

(19)

$

4,227

$

3,815

$

2,781

$

2,800

$

(19)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

4,227

3,815

$
$

2010/11 Budget

2,781

-

$

1,034
1,034

1,034
$

1,034

$

-

(1) Includes $1,003 of non cash DHC prepaid lease write-off
(2) Includes $1,370 of non cash DHC prepaid lease write-off
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Statement of Management Responsibility
The ﬁnancial statements of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. have been prepared by management in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. These statements present fairly the ﬁnancial position of the Company
as at March 31, 2011 and results of its operations and cash ﬂows for the year ending March 31, 2011.
Management is responsible for the integrity of the ﬁnancial statements and has established systems of internal control to
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, assets are safeguarded, and ﬁnancial records are
properly maintained to facilitate the preparation of the ﬁnancial statements in a timely manner.
The Auditor General of British Columbia has performed an independent audit of the ﬁnancial statements of Forestry
Innovation Investment Ltd. The Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of this independent audit and expresses an opinion
on the ﬁnancial statements of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Ken Baker
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer

Douglas Greig
Vice President, Finance and Administration

Vancouver, British Columbia
May 19, 2011
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Letter from the Auditor

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Board of Directors of Forestry Innovation Ltd., and
To the Minister of Jobs, Tourism and Innovation, Province of British Columbia
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
I have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Forestry Innovation Investment
Ltd. (“the Entity”) and its subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31,
2011, and the consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings and cash flow for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal
control as management determines, is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
My responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on my audit. I
conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the Entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In my view, the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
audit opinion.
Opinion
In my opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. and its subsidiary as at March 31, 2011, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

Victoria, British Columbia
June 12, 2011
Forestry Innovation Investment

John Doyle, MAcc, CA
Auditor General
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Consolidated Financial Statements
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Consolidated Balance Sheet
( in $000s)
As at March 31
Assets
Current assets
Cash
Restricted cash held in trust (note 5)
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Recipient advances (note 6)
Program advances (note 6)

Capital assets
Property, plant and equipment (note 7)
Intangible assets (note 7)

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Cheques written in excess of cash balance
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 8)
Restricted funds held in trust (note 5)
Note payable (note 9)
Program payables (note 6)
Due to the Province of British Columbia (note 10)

Deferred revenue (note 11)

Shareholders's equity
Share capital (note 12)
Retained earnings (note 16)

2011

2010

7,426
377
1,276
129
317
-

4,301
1,181
533
96

9,525

6,111

275
150

478
122

9,950

6,711

1,875
377
460
104

342
1,588
1,561
709

2,816

4,200

6,392

2,055

6,392

2,055

742

456

742

456

9,950

6,711

Commitments (note 13)
On behalf of the Board

Director

Director

The accompanying notes and supplementary schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings
(in $000s)
For the year ended March 31
Revenue
Contribution from the Province of British Columbia
Contribution for Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects (note 14)
Contribution for China Demonstration Projects (note 15)

2011

2010

18,898
4,772
2,637

23,075
1,847
3,341

26,307

28,263

9,574

11,507

2,781
4,690
2,761
4,784

3,815
1,697
3,035
5,936

24,590

25,990

1,100

1,381

331

436

26,021

27,807

Excess of revenue over expenditures

286

456

Retained earnings, beginning of year

456

-

Retained earnings, end of year (note 16)

742

456

Market Development Programs
Market Development
China - Market Development
Market Development
Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects (note 14)
Demonstration Projects (note 15)
Market Initiatives and Outreach
Total Market Development Programs
Corporate Support
Amortization

The accompanying notes and supplementary schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(in $000s)
For the year ended March 31

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:
Excess of revenue over expenditures
Items not involving cash:
Amortization of capital assets
Amortization of Dream Home Canada lease (note 11)

Changes in non-cash working capital

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of capital assets
Change in restricted cash

Cash flows provided from (used by) financing activities:
Change in deferred revenue
Note payable

Increase (decrease) in cash during the year
Cash beginning of year

Cash end of year

2011

2010
(Restated - note 2)

286

456

331
-

436
1,003

617

1,895

4,907

(5,497)

5,524

(3,602)

(156)
(377)

(230)
-

(533)

(230)

4,338
(1,561)

240
1,561

2,777

1,801

7,768

(2,031)

(342)

7,426

1,689

(342)

Interest paid during the year 2011 was $7,330 (2010 - $0).
The accompanying notes and supplementary schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Consolidated Schedule of Expenditures by Business Segment
for the year ended March 31, 2011
(in 000's)

Business Segment
Amortization

Market
Development

China Market
Development

Market
Initiatives and
Outreach

Corporate
Support

2011 Total 2010 Total

-

46

285

331

436

120

22

61

203

258

Communications

-

-

52

52

77

Conferences and Trade Shows

-

-

194

-

194

1,101

Grants

-

-

1,952

-

1,952

1,970

Marketing

-

157

178

-

335

239

Office

-

730

171

179

1,080

908

Lease Amortization

-

-

-

-

1,003

Auditing

Performance Management

89

-

-

-

89

-

Professional Services

-

120

126

215

461

445

Publishing

-

-

60

-

60

116

Strategy & Research Studies

-

20

621

-

641

601

Trade Missions

-

-

18

-

18

36

Travel & Business Costs

-

192

118

73

383

398

290

1,178

941

536

2,945

2,988

60

-

52

-

112

76

9,015

7,821

353

-

17,189

17,145

Wages and Benefits
Websites
Program Costs
Exchange Gain/Loss
Total

9,574

(8)
10,278

4,784

(16)
1,385

(24)
26,021

10
27,807

The accompanying notes and supplementary schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Nature of Business

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (the Company), was incorporated on March 31, 2003 under the laws of British Columbia.
A board of directors, all appointed by the government of British Columbia, governs the Company.
Market Development Program - uses project funding delivered through an annual “Call for Proposals” in partnership with the
Government of Canada to fund forest industry associations and research institutions, to:
•

maintain and create opportunities for B.C. wood products in existing and emerging markets;

•

ensure that customers, consumers, designers, builders, developers and architects know about BC wood products and
the many positive features they bring to wood-frame construction and interior finishing;

•

support the development of innovative new forest products, including products using pine harvested from mountain
pine beetle-attacked forests; and

•

provide interested parties around the world with information on the properties and qualities of B.C.’s forest products
and the B.C. companies that supply them.

Market Initiatives and Outreach Program - are internally direct delivered programs that:
•

identify potential opportunities for BC forest products through market research and develop market access
strategies;

•

ensure BC forest products have access to markets free from regulatory and other barriers through initiatives and
research; and

•

provide customers and foreign regulators with facts about the environmental merits of B.C. forest products,
including the sustainable forest management regime that underlies their production.

Environmental campaigns that promote misleading or incorrect information are quickly challenged by FII and its partners.
They also monitor development of draft legislation and procurement policies in other jurisdictions, and intervene if necessary
to obviate or minimize measures that would impair the flow of B.C. forest products into a particular market. They do this in
part by making relevant officials aware of frequently unintended consequences if the legislation or policy is adopted.

2.

Accounting Changes and Error Corrections

The consolidated statement of cash flows has been restated to reflect excess of revenue over expenditures for fiscal 2010 of
$456,000, which was originally classified as part of changes in non-working capital in error. The error correction is a change in
classification and has no impact on 2010 reported cash end of year.

3.

Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
Significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of these financial statements are:
a)

Consolidation
In 2004, the Company incorporated FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary registered under the
laws of the People’s Republic of China.
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Based in Shanghai, the subsidiary administers market development programs on behalf of the Company. There are
restrictions imposed on the distribution of earnings and assets from the subsidiary to its parent; hence FII Consulting
(Shanghai) Co. Ltd.’s working capital has been disclosed as program payables or program advances on the balance sheet.
All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation at year end. (See
Note 6).
b) Financial Instruments
All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Measurement of the financial instruments in
subsequent periods depends on their classification as described below.
Financial assets and financial liabilities “held-for-trading” are measured at fair value with changes in those fair values
recognized in the excess of revenues over expenditures. Financial assets “available-for-sale” are measured at fair value,
with changes in those fair values recognized in “Other Comprehensive Income”. Financial assets “held-to-maturity”,
“loans and receivables” and “other financial liabilities” are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method of amortization.
The Company has made the following classifications:
Cash and Restricted cash held in trust are classified as held for trading and measured at fair value and all gains and
losses are recognized in the period in which they occur. Accounts receivable, Recipient advances and Program advances
are classified as loans and receivables and are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, Restricted funds held in trust, Program payables, Notes payable and amounts Due to the
Province of British Columbia are classified as other financial liabilities and are also measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.
c)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are recorded at cost and amortization is being calculated on the
straight-line basis using the following rates:
Computer Equipment		
Computer Software			
Furniture and Equipment		
Leasehold Improvements		
Trade Show Booths			
Website development Costs		

3 years
2 years
5 years
Term of Lease
3 years
2 years

d) Revenue Recognition
Contributions from the Province of British Columbia, the Federal Government, and the Beichuan Municipal County are
for specific purposes and as such are deferred and recognized as revenue as the expenses are incurred.
e) Foreign Currency Translation
These consolidated financial statements are expressed in Canadian dollars. The Company’s foreign operations, conducted
through FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., are considered integrated operations and are translated from Chinese RMB
using the temporal method of translation. Accordingly, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the spot rates of
exchange in effect at the balance sheet date; non-monetary items are translated at historical exchange rates in effect on
the dates of the transactions. Revenue and expense items are translated at monthly average rates of exchange in effect
during the month in which the transaction occurred, except for amortization which is translated at its corresponding
historical rate. Realized exchange gains and losses are included in the consolidated statements of operations.
f)

Impairment and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets, including capital assets and prepaid leases subject to amortization, are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
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The recoverability of assets held and used by the Company is measured by comparing the carrying amount of the asset
to the estimated value in use expected from the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future
cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount of which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the
fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the
lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and would no longer be depreciated.
g)

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosure of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates include
estimating the useful lives of long-lived assets, assessing the recoverability of accounts receivable, recipient advances,
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Reported amounts and note disclosures reflect the overall economic
conditions that are most likely to occur and anticipated measures to be taken by management. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

4.

Future Accounting Changes

Future Accounting Framework – Public Sector Accounting (PSA) Standards:
The Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) sets out the applicable source of GAAP applied by Canadian government
organizations. Federal, provincial, territorial, and local governments follow the PSA Handbook Standards, not IFRS.
Governments control and operate various forms of organizations. In response to the AcSB’s adoption of IFRS, the PSAB
released the “Introduction to PSA Standards”, as amended in December 2010, and directed government organizations as
follows:
1.

Government business enterprises are to follow IFRS;

2.

Government not-for-profit organizations are to follow the standards for not-for-profit organizations in the CICA PSA
Handbook or the standards in the CICA PSA Handbook without Sections PS 4200 to PS 4270; and

3.

Other government organizations can choose PSA Handbook or IFRS, whichever is more appropriate.

Forestry Innovation Investment is an “other government organization.” At the direction of the Office of the Comptroller
General, Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. will adopt PSAB standards to meet the needs of the financial statement users.
The recommended changes made will be effective April 1, 2011 and include the restatement of March 31, 2011 financial results
using the newly adopted standards. The Company is reviewing these new standards and has not yet quantified the effect of
adoption.

5.

Restricted Cash Held in Trust

In 2010 the Company’s subsidiary FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. entered into an agreement with the Beichuan
Municipal County (BMC), China to provide funding for the costs incurred by the general contractor, Fu Yuan on the Beichuan
Reconstruction Project. In the year $730,000 was received by FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from the Beichuan Municipal
County (BMC) which was agreed to be “Held In Trust”. This contribution was for the sole purpose of making payments on
behalf of BMC to the Beichuan Project General Contractor, Fu Yuan. This money represented Beichuan County’s Agreed
financial responsibility to the project. During the year FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. made payments on behalf of BMC
in the amount $332,129. A balance of $376,584 remains to be paid by the end of June 2011. The payments made and the
matching cash contribution is contained in the consolidated statement of operations. The remaining $376,584 is contained
on the balance sheet as Restricted Funds/Cash Held in Trust.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Recipient Advances, Program Advances and Payables

The Company advances funds to recipient organizations during the year, based on recipient funding contracts, to carry
out program activities. Historically unspent advances have been repaid back to the Company prior to the end of the first
quarter of the new fiscal year after final reconciliation reports have been submitted and final audits have been completed. At
March 31, 2011, $317,000 (2010 - $533,000) has been identified as repayable by the recipients and has been set up as Recipient
advances.
Program payables (advances) at March 31, 2011 of $460,000 (2010 – ($96,000) ) relate to the net working capital at March 31,
2011 of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.’s subsidiary company, FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. This amount represents
the net amount payable for programs being carried out by the subsidiary. The balance of program payables and advances to
FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. is comprised of the following elements:

Cash

Program advances

2010

(55)

(65)

(186)

(693)

Program payables
Total

7.

2011

1,208

155

460

(96)

Property, Plant and Equipment
2011

Property, Plant and Equipment
Computer equipment

Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

Intangible Assets*
Websites

Computer software

2010

Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Net Book
Value

568

482

86

116

215

155

60

338

271

67

85

93

734

672

62

184

1,855

1,580

275

478

401

257

144

120

109

103

6

2

510

360

150

122

2,365

1,940

425

600

Cost includes the fair market value of certain assets transferred to the Company from the Province effective April 1, 2003, for
one dollar. These assets are now fully depreciated.
* Intangible assets subject to amortization that were acquired during the year totalled $115,000 (2010 - $76,000). The
aggregate amortization recorded for intangible assets in 2011 was $87,000 (2010 - $88,000).
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8.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
2010

2011
Trade payables

Future employee benefit

Accrued liabilities

9.

369

227

171

171
1,477

1,048

1,875

1,588

2011

2010

Note Payable
Note Payable

-

1,561

-

1,561

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. signed a $1,561,000 short-term note with HSBC on March 31, 2010 against 90 percent
of its accounts receivable invoice outstanding from a Federal Government contract with a fair market value of $1,734,000
for the Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects. The note required interest payable monthly at prime plus 0.5 percent. Interest
was effective April 1, 2010 and repayment of the loan in full was made in full in 2010 upon receipt of payment of accounts
receivable outstanding from the Federal Government (See Note 14 – Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects).

10. Due to the Province of British Columbia
On March 31 the amount due to the Province of British Columbia consisted of the following:
2011
Balance, beginning of the year
Funds received for current year operations

709

1,221

22,275

23,075

22,984
Payments refunded back to the Province
Interest earned during the period
Program expenditures

Dream Home Canada lease amortization
Change in property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets net of amortization

Advances against program expenditures

Due to the Province of British Columbia end of the year

2010

(709)
27
(22,373)

24,296

(1,221)

2

(23,450)

-

1,003

175

206

-

(127)

104

709

Change in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets net of amortization represents assets acquired during the
year of $156,000 (2010 - $230,000) less amortization of $331,000 (2010 - $436,000).
The amount payable to the Province of British Columbia is subject to repayment upon completion of the final audited
financial report for fiscal 2011 and is not subject to interest charges.
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11. Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue consists of contributions received for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets, advances against program expenditures and advances on federal contracts with goods and services still outstanding.
Revenue is recognized as these assets are amortized and or goods and services received. The deferred revenue account,
therefore, will increase by the purchase of assets less disposals or advances received and decrease by the amortization of
those assets or goods and services received.
2010

2011
Balance, beginning of the year

2,055

1,815

-

Decrease in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
net of amortization

(1,003)

(175)

Advances against program expenditures provincial

(206)

5,710

Decrease in Dream Home Canada net of prepaid lease expense

Advances against program expenditures federal
Adjustment

Balance, end of the year

127

1,327

(1,198)
-

(5)

6,392

2,055

Advances against program expenditures for fiscal 2011, reflects provincial funding for fiscal 2012 received during fiscal 2011.

12. Share Capital
The Company has authorized capital of 100 common shares without par value of which 10 shares are issued and outstanding.
The Minister of Forests and Range holds the shares issued as the designated representative of Her Majesty the Queen in right
of the Province of British Columbia.

13. Commitments
The Company has lease commitments for the premises it occupies at 1130 West Pender Street and DHC Villa, Shanghai, China:
Lease Payments
March 2012

523

March 2013
March 2014
March 2015
March 2016

117
640

The Company also has an obligation to pay $1,073,000 (2010 - $2,142,000) in fiscal 2012 for contracts entered into, including
those for the Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects, and not yet completed at March 31, 2011.
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14. Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects
In June of 2008, British Columbia (B.C.) Premier Gordon Campbell and the Honourable Gary Lunn, Canadian Minister of
Natural Resources, announced a CDN $8 million donation to provide wood-frame buildings to help survivors of China’s
Wenchuan Earthquake.

The initiative is a collaborative effort between the Government of Canada and the Government of British Columbia. B.C.
is providing CDN $5 million and the Government of Canada is contributing CDN $3 million. This involves constructing
permanent wood-frame structures, including a school, a seniors’ home, and a rehabilitation centre for physically disabled. All
are being built of Canadian structural lumber and using modern wood frame construction technology.
The reconstruction projects are being managed by Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. and delivered through its Shanghai
based subsidiary FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. The latter is responsible for negotiating the terms of each project and
managing it to completion. Canada Wood Group China, is providing on-the-ground quality assurance. The initiative is
expected to continue over three years with completion targeted now for early fiscal 2012.
In the 2011 fiscal year Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. received/incurred the following funding and costs related to this
initiative:
2011
Funding from the Province of British Columbia

Funding from the Government of Canada
Funding from Beichuan County, China

Project Costs

Exchange Gain/Loss

(3,300)
(1,140)
(332)
4,700

2010

-

(1,847)

-

1,704

(10)

(7)

(82)

(150)

15. China Wood Frame Demonstration Projects
In fiscal 2010, Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. and the Government of Canada, through the Minister of Natural Resources,
entered into an agreement where Natural Resources Canada contributed CDN $3.3 million for wood frame demonstration
projects in China. A further CDN $2.6 million contribution was made in fiscal 2011 towards these initiatives.
The projects are a collaborative effort to illustrate a wide range of building applications using wood. These include wood
frame elements such as wood truss roofs, interior partition walls, and exterior infill walls in multi-storey, multi-family
housing. Projects will demonstrate the merits of wood-frame building and related technology, and the quality of Canadian/
B.C. wood products, and will advance the acceptance of structural wood building systems in China.
The demonstration projects are being managed by Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. and delivered through its Shanghai
based subsidiary FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. As with most Demonstration projects, FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. is
responsible for negotiating the terms of each project and managing it to completion. Canada Wood Group China is providing
on-the-ground quality assurance expertise.

Service Plan Annual Report 2010/11

Forestry Innovation Investment

52

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

In the 2011 fiscal year Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. received/incurred the following funding and costs related to these
projects:
2011
Funding from the Government of Canada
Forest Products Association of Canada

Project Costs

Exchange Gain/Loss

(2,562)
(75)
2,763

2010

(3,341)

-

3,037

(2)

(2)

124

(306)

16. Retained Earnings
Retained earnings of $742,000 (2010 - $456,000) represents funds received from the Government of Canada in excess of
expenditures incurred. FII’s funding agreement with the Province of British Columbia allows for the carryover of any funds
received from sources outside of Province of British Columbia into future periods.

17. Future employee benefit
The Company has an obligation to pay a retirement allowance of $171,482 to a senior executive at the expiry of the
employment agreement. The contract was renewed in fiscal 2011 with no change in the retirement allowance.
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18. Related Party Transactions

The Company is related through common ownership to all Province of British Columbia ministries, agencies and crown
corporations and other public sector entities. In addition, transactions with senior management, directors, immediate family
members of senior management and directors and companies with which any of the above have a financial interest are also
considered related parties. These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. had the following transactions with its related parties:
2011

2010

18,800

22,700

-

1,003

175

206

Revenues from the Province
Contributions (funding) from the Province of British
Columbia

Capital funding from deferred revenue for Dream Home
Canada lease amortization (see note 10, 11)

Capital funding from deferred revenue for assets net of
amortization (see note 7, 10, 11)
Interest earned during the period

Advances against program expenditures provincial (see
note 10,11)

Excess provincial funding over expenditures set up as
due to the Province of British Columbia (see note 10)

Net contributions from the Province of British Columbia

Contributions from the Province of British Columbia
towards Wenchuan Reconstruction Projects (see note 14)

27

2

-

(127)

(104)

(709)

18,898

23,075

3,300

-

22,198

23,075

141

308

Expenses
Wages and benefits
Office

Program Costs

Grants

13
343

75

597

45

25

542

1,005

6,392

2,055

(130)

(1,327)

Balance Sheet items
Deferred Revenue per Consolidated Balance Sheet

Advances against program expenditures from the Federal Government

Deferred revenue from the Province
Due to Province of British Columbia

Service Plan Annual Report 2010/11

6,262

728

104

709

6,366

1,437
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19. Capital Management
The Company considers its capital to be its retained earnings, which comprise general funds from federal government
agreements. The capital consists of amounts received from the Government of Canada where funds were in excess of
expenditures at year end for ongoing projects undertaken by the Company (see Note 16).
The Company’s objectives when managing its capital are to ensure the Company effectively achieves its goals and objectives
for which it has been established, whilst remaining a going concern.
Annual budgets are developed and monitored to ensure the Company manages its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, and
general financial dealings prudently and in compliance with the British Columbia government budget processes and with
British Columbia Treasury Board instructions.

20. Financial Instruments
As at March 31, 2011 FII has the following financial instruments:
Financial Instrument
Cash

Restricted Cash held in trust
Accounts Receivable

Recipient Advances
Program Advances

Cheques Written in excess of Cash Balance
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Restricted funds held in trust
Note Payable

Program Payables

Due to the Province of British Columbia

Balance

Balance

2011

2010

7,426
377
1,276
317
1,875
377
460
104

-

-

4,301

533
96

342

1,588

-

1,561

-

709

The carrying value of Forestry Innovation Investments’ financial instruments approximate their fair value due to their shortterm nature or in the case of Cash and Restricted Cash held in Trust due to these accounts being carried at fair value.
The management of Forestry Innovation Investment monitors and assesses the Company’s exposure to risk through its
financial instruments on an ongoing basis. Management uses a variety of processes to address these risks.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation. Forestry Innovation Investment is potentially exposed to credit risk through cash, restricted cash
held in trust, accounts receivable and recipient advances. Cash and restricted cash is maintained with financial institutions of
reputable credit and may be redeemed upon demand. Accounts receivable consist mainly of federal cost share agreements
which are monitored on a regular basis. Recipient advances are made three times through the year to reputable recipients,
and FII staff monitor the status of such advances on a continuing basis. It is the Company’s opinion that its exposure to
credit risk is subject to normal industry risks and is considered minimal.
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.
Management maintains sufficient cash balances throughout the year to meet its short-term obligations. It is the Company’s
opinion that its exposure to liquidity risk is subject to normal industry risks and is considered minimal.

Market risks
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that a variation in exchange rates between the Canadian dollar and foreign currencies
will affect the Company’s operations and financial results. The Company is subject to foreign exchange risk through
its program payables and program advances and a portion of the Company’s program and tradeshow costs, which are
denominated in Chinese Renminbi, Japanese Yen and other foreign currencies. Significant foreign exchange gain or losses
are reflected as a separate component of the consolidated schedule of expenditures by business segment. The Company
does not use derivatives instruments to reduce its exposure to foreign currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Debt management strategies include monitoring of interest rates, leveraging
unrestricted surplus funding against the interest rate debt.

21. Economic Dependence
The Company’s operations are funded in full by the Province of British Columbia, through the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and
Innovation effective March 14, 2011, previously the Ministry of Forests and Range. The Company’s operations are also funded in
part by the Federal Government through Natural Resources Canada.

22. Comparative Figures
Certain figures for 2010 have been restated to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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Contact Us
Further information on Forestry Innovation Investment is available at www.bcfii.ca.
A Report to Stakeholders to be published in July 2011 will highlight accomplishments in major markets around the world in
2010/11. Previous Service Plans and Service Plan Annual Reports are posted to the “About FII” section of the website.
Comprehensive information about B.C.’s sustainable forest management practices and products is available at
www.naturallywood.com, with links to many forest-product companies and trade associations.
Information on FII operations in China is available at www.canadawood.cn. Details on the Canada-B.C. Wenchuan
Earthquake Reconstruction Project may be found at www.canada-bc-512quakereconstruction.org/.
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